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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

San Francisco Division

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE Case No. 18-cv-06371-LB
COMMISSION,
Plaintiff, ORDER DENYING DEFENDANT
KUANSHENG CHEN’'S MOTION TO
v. DISMISS FOR LACK OF PERSONAL
JURISDICTION
JEAN DANHONG CHEN, et al.,
Re: ECF No. 61
Defendants.

INTRODUCTION
In this lawsuit, the Securities and Exchangen@ussion (“SEC”) charges a scheme to violatg
U.S. securities laws by, among other acts, cedefandants’ acting unlawfully as brokers and
receiving unlawful commissions) connection with investmewifferings under the federal EB-5
Immigrant Investor Programnd then covering up the schef&he United States Citizenship ang
Immigration Services ("USCIS”) administers the-BBrogram, which allowfreign investors to

invest at least $500,000 in USCépproved businesses, thereaftietain a two-yar “conditional

permanent residency” visa, and (if at leastWeB. jobs are created) obtain permanent residéncy.

1 Compl. — ECF No. 1 at 1-2 (11 1-4). Citations refer to material in the Electronic Case File (“EC
pinpoint citations are to the ECF-generated page numbers at the top of documents.

?1d. at 5 (11 22-24).
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Often, the investments are madeotigh an investment vehicle sua$ a limited partnership or a
limited liability compauy (offered through administrative tties called “regional centers®)The
alleged scheme is that defendadean Chen, the sole partner of her law firm (with offices in San
Francisco, San Jose, and Beijing), filed EB-5 petgion behalf of her legal clients and then, she
and her husband, co-defendant Tony Ye (her law$i office manager)lrokered transactions
(even though they are not registered brokers thighSEC) by introducing the clients to regional
centers for the EB-5 projects that the clientandtely sponsored. As a result, Ms. Chen and Mr
Ye received $12 million in unlawfuommissions that they did not disclose to Ms. Chen’s legal
clients? Then, with the help of co-defendant Kuamsf Chen, who lives in Hong Kong, they trieq
to conceal the scheme by medhat included the use of MZhen’s offshore bank account.

Mr. Chen moves to dismiss the complaint agams for lack of pergnal jurisdiction and for
lack of proper servicBThe court can decideahmotion without oral arguent. Civ. L. R. 7-1(b).
The court denies the motion to dismiss becdliseSEC has made a prima facie showing of

specific personal jurisdictiomd properly served Mr. Chen.

STATEMENT
The next sections review the facts relevamgdmsonal jurisdictin, the facts relevd to service

of process, and other rgkmt procedural history.

1. Facts Relevant to Personal Jurisdiction
The facts relevant to personatigdiction involve fourcategories: (1) Mr. Chen’s alleged use
of his bank and brokerage accouasl an entity called New Haons to facilitate unlawful

payments from the regional centers to Ms. Céxeth Mr. Ye; (2) his involveent in projects that

31d. (11 22-23).

“1d. at 1-2 (7 1), 5-6 (11 26—34). Mr. Chen saysslecitizen and resident of Hong Kong and
Beijing. Kuansheng Chen Decl. — ECF No. 61-1 at 3 (1 2).

®> SeeComp. — ECF No. 1 at 3 (T 11).
® Mot. — ECF No. 61 at 12-21.
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Ms. Chen and Mr. Ye managed (without disclogimgm to clients); (3) other contacts with the
district; and (4) the evidence that Mr. Chearbmits to defeat personal jurisdiction.

1.1 Use of Accounts and New Horizon® Facilitate the Scheme

The alleged broker activity was froamn least 2008 tat least 2016.Until December 2013, the
regional centers paid the commissions diretlivls. Chen’s law firm’s U.S.-based bank
account$ But in 2012, “certain regional centersped paying commissions directly to U.S.-
based individuals and entities because they rezedithe payments caliviolate broker-dealer
registration requirements containedhe federal securities law8As a result, Ms. Chen and Mr.
Ye had the regional centers pay the conspéion to Mr. Chen’s China-based accoufits.

(Mr. Chen is Ms. Chen’s family friend or réilze (possibly her brothigand lives in Hong Kong
and Beijing!})

Mr. Chen did not refer investors to the regional centers and instead was a “nominee” for |
Chen and Mr. Yé2 Allegedly to lend the appeamnce of legitimacy to the receipt of fees, Mr. Che
“purports to be the managingéctor of U.S. Immigration Services of New Horizons, a China-
based immigration agency>But “New Horizons is not an dlependent agency managed by” Mr
Chen and instead is “co-owned and manageld/lsy] Chen and [Mr.] Ye and is the Beijing

branch of the[ir] Law Offices® For example, the addresses few Horizons and the Beijing

"Compl. — ECF No. 1 at 7 (11 38, 42).
81d. at 9 (T 49).

91d. (1 50).

101d. (] 52).

11d. at 3 (1 11) (friend or relative), 13 (1 72) (Mr. Chen said that Ms. Chen was his sister);
Kuansheng Chen Letter to Schwab, Ex. 14 to Dolan Decl. — ECF No. 62-15 at 2 (describing Ms.
as his sister); Kuansheng Chen Decl. — ECF No. 61-1 at 3 (1 2).

121d. at 9 (1 53)see alsdKuansheng Chen Decl. — ECF No. 61-1 at 3 (1 5).

13 Compl. — ECF No. 1 at 9 (1 54e alsduansheng Chen Decl. — ECF No. 61-1 at 3 ( 3)
(describes himself has the Director of Immigrafjbat not an owner) of Ne Horizons); Kuansheng
Chen Statement, Ex. 1 to Dolan Decl. — ECF No. 62-2 at 4 (shared Ms. Chen’s contact informati

with customers, communicated client questions and answers to Ms. Chen, and sent documents {o

Ms. Chen or other lawyers by means such as express mail, email, webchat, qq, or phone calls;
Ms. Chen’s legal staff checked for client docutsesvery day and “will knowt is our customers”).

14 Compl. — ECF No. 1 at 9-10 (11 54-56).
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law office are the same, the New Horizons ofigstaffed by law-dice employees, the email
domain and signature block for tbfice manager in Beijing shows that he worked for the law
office, and the manager told EB-5 invarstthat he worked for the law offié@The manager in
Beijing removed his affiliabn with the law office and replacédwith an affiliation with New
Horizons only after Ms. Chen and Mr. Yataed about the SEC’s investigation of New
Horizons!® At that time, Ms. Chen and Mr. Ye altscrubbed all mentioof the Beijing [law]
office from Law Office materials!” Ms. Chen testified during the SEC investigation that she
never had a law office in Beijing, an account thatastradicted by documentisat her law office
provided to investors before the SEC investargtincluding listing the Beijing office on her
firm’s website, brochures, ret@nagreements, and business c&tdis.2009, “[Ms.] Chen and
[Mr.] Ye became co-owners of New Horizons,” which was “an existing immigration agency in
Beijing that offered services to individganterested in immigrating to Canadd.*Since 20009,
all of the Law Offices’ activitiesn China purportedly have been carried out under New Horizor]
operating permit because China requires that companies providing immigration services in G
have a particular permit®

To receive the commission payments fromrégional centers, regional centers required
marketing or referral agreements ie tame of Mr. Chen or New HorizofisMr. Chen signed
the agreements, but Mr. Ye allegedlygotated the terms of the agreemeRtafter April 2012,
when Mr. Chen was receiving the commissiopmpeants, Ms. Chen and Mr. Ye “continued to

correspond with the regional centassif they were the ones refiag investors to the regional

1514, at 10 (Y 56).
164,

171d. (1 57).

18,

1914, (1 58).

201,

211d. at 10 (1 59).
22,
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centers.23 From April 2012 to August 2016, “at leastdiU.S.-based regional centers paid from
mostly U.S.-based accounts at les&781,500 ($8,561,500 since January 14, 2013) to account
held in the name of Kuansheng Cheloy’the benefit of Ms. Chen and Mr. ¥&By December
2016, during the SEC'’s investigation, “the regiboenters were directed to stop paying”
Mr. Chen, and instead, “New Horizons hadeaist two foreign companies act as substitute
‘nominees’ to receive transaction-basetpensation through overseas bank accounts on its
behalf,” and both “are affiliateditih New Horizons as subagents.”

Mr. Chen allowed Ms. Chen and her law offs access to his bank account by giving her a
physical token with the passwaongeded to access the accoufitvs. Chen or her employees
logged into the account from the United Stated, sometimes, they would contact Mr. Chen “to

obtain additional information needed to access the accéUnit.’ Chen also had a U.S. Charles

Schwab account, and — because Mr. Chen assigse@hen power of attorney over the account,

and Mr. Ye pretended to be Mr. Chen — Ms. Chad Mr. Ye used the account to return their
commissions to the United Stafédn March 2016, after Ms. Cheamd Mr. Ye learned about the
SEC investigation, Mr. Ye, “ding as Kuansheng Chen,” closed the brokerage acébunt.

1.2 Mr. Chen’s Connection With Other Charged Projects

In the complaint, the SEC names as a defeh@ieee Lined Properts Inc., an entity

controlled by Ms. Chen and Mr. Y¥&In short, the SEC allegéisat Ms. Chen and Mr. Ye

231d. at 11 (1 60).

24|d. (1 61). The SEC alleges that “[i]t is possible that additional regional centers paid Kuanshen
Chen additional transaction-based compensation,” but Ms. Chen, Mr. Le, and the law office did n
produce emails where regional centers talked about payments to be made to Mr. Chen, and whil
SEC has some emails produced by third parties, it does not have insight into the full scope of
compensation sent to Mr. Chen, and it may be higher than $12,70@50062).

2514, (1 64).

2614, at 12 (1 68).
2714,

281d. (11 69-70).
2914, at 13 ( 71).
014, at 3 (1 13).
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sponsored EB-5 projects through entity called Golden StaRegional Center, LLC (also a co-
defendant), allegedly withodisclosing their involvemerit.Ms. Chen and Mr. Ye allegedly used
Tree Lined to purchase the lanubdadevelop projects, all withodisclosing their conflicts of
interests to their legal clientMr. Chen claims to have damed money — evidenced by seven
loan agreements (all with Cadifnia choice-of-law provisions)- for real-estate developmetit.
The SEC disputes that the amounts were loansitast them — and other evidence such as
Mr. Chen’s sending at least $1 million from his Schwab account to one of the Golden State
projects, Mr. Chen’s receng $2 million back tadhe Schwab account, and millions from the
Schwab account used to purchasel#nd for one of the projects as evidence of his ties to the
transactions and entities charged in the compfint.

1.3 Other Alleged Contactswith the United States

During the timeframe in the SEC case, Mr. Cbamed four pieces of real property in the
United States (in one in Pleas&hll and three in Emeryvilleyented them to tenants, and
allegedly sold them after Ms. Chen and. Me learned about the SEC investigatidin addition
to the Charles Schwab account, he hdmtokerage account at TD Ameritrafiéie used Ms.
Chen’s address as his addreseegbrd for his accounts, explainititat she was his sister and he

stayed with he?’ He has a Social Security numbedafor tax years 2012 and 2013, paid federa

31d. at 15-23 (11 85-129).
321d. at 23-28 (11 130-163).
33 Loan Agreements, Exs. 2-8 to Dolan Decl. — ECF Nos. 62-3 to 62-9.

34 Exs. 2-8 & 26-27 to Dolan Decl. — ECF Nos. 62-3 to 62—8, 62—27 to 62—29; Compl. — ECF N¢.

26 (1 145).

35 Records, Ex. 11 to Dolan Decl. — ECF No. 62-12 & Exs. 15-19 to Dolan Decl. — ECF Nos. 62-
61-20.

3% The SEC submitted evidence of a TD Ameritrade account in 2001 (in the form of Mr. Chen’s
communications to TD Ameritrade forwarding hisSUVisa) that still existed in 2020. Exs. 12-13 to
Dolan Decl. — ECF Nos. 62-13 & 62-14.

37 Exs. 13-14 to Dolan Decl. — ECF Nos. 62-14 & 62—-15. Mr. Chen also told TD Ameritrade (in 2
that he lived in the United States because his children attended college here. Ex. 12 to Dolan D¢
ECF No. 62-13. The 2001 time period is attenuated from the scheme alleged in the SEC’s comp
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and California taxe® The SEC points to other informationaait his loan of money to Ms. Chen
and Mr. Ye to buy their home and his trakiele especially foreal-estate investing.

1.4 Mr. Chen’s Additional Information

Mr. Chen describes his actias as the Director of Imnmgtion as “lawful under Chinese
law.”° He says that New Horizons has been cdietidy third-party shareholders (and not the
“Principal Defendants”) since 2005 (and attachasreenshot of the Chinese government’s
website that purportedly shows th#tHe describes New Horizons’ business as follows:

New Horizons provides administrative seas to Chinese clients pursuant to its
Chinese Business license. As part obiisiness, where New Horizons clients are
interested in obtaining re@ncy in the U.S. throughdEB-5 Immigrant Investor
Program, New Horizons may advise thaBents about regial centers, and the
regional centers may pay appriate fees to New Homns as authorized under
Chinese laws. New Horizons does not hamg employees in the U.S. and does not
market in the U.S. or engagedirected selling efforts in the UZ3.

2. Facts About Service of Process
On November 2, 2018, the court granted th€SEequest to serve Mr. Chen by email
delivery and overnight delivery ¢fie summons and complainttis United States couns€IThe

SEC filed proof of service on November 6, 20418.

3. Other Relevant Procedural History
The complaint has eight claims) ftaud in the offer or sale @ecurities, in violation of

8 17(a) of the Securities Ad5 U.S.C. 88 77q(a)(1)—(3) (agaimds. Chen, her law offices, and

38 Exs. 15-19 to Dolan Decl. — ECF No. 62-16 to 62—20.
% Ye Dep., Ex. 34 to Dolan Decl. — ECF No. 62-35 at 5 (p. 96:1-9), 7 (p. 188:1-7); Kuansheng G

hen

Statement, Ex. 1 to Dolan Decl. — ECF No. 62-2 at 2. Mr. Chen describes his contacts as more limite

“I have only visited the U.S. two times, onoearound 1999 or 2000 and once in 2018, which was fd
personal reason; both trips lasted only a couple weeks.” Kuansheng Chen Decl. — ECF No. 61-1
6).

40 Kuansheng Chen Decl. — ECF No. 61-1 at 3 (T 3).
a1d. (1 4).

42d.

43 Order — ECF No. 14.

44 pProof of Service — ECF No. 17.

ORDER-No. 18-cv-06371-LB 7

r
at3



United States District Court
Northern District of Califorra

© 00 N oo o b~ w N P

N N N N DN DN DN NN R R R R R R R R R R
o ~N o U~ W N P O © 0 N O U~ W N B O

Golden State); (2) fraud in the offer or saleseturities on an aidingid-abetting theory, in
violation of 8 17(a) of the Sedties Act, 15 U.S.C. 88 77q(a)(1)—(3) (against Mr. Ye, Mr. Chen,
Kai Hao Robinson (a CPA and Golden State’s mgana Tree Lined, and Ms. Chen’s law offices
(3) fraud in connection with the purchase or sdlsecurities, in violation of § 10(b) of the
Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. 88 78j(b) and Rul#-5, 17 C.F.R. 88 240.10b-5(a)—(c) (against

Ms. Chen, her law offices, and Golden State)fr@)d in connection with #hpurchase or sale of
securities on an aiding-and-abegtitheory, in violation of 8§ 10(lgf the Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C.
88 77j(b), and Rule 10b-5, 17 C.F.R. 88 240.1G0)-5¢) (against Mr. Ye, Mr. Chen, Ms.
Robinson, Tree Lined, and Ms. Chen’s law offices);fétlure to register as a broker-dealer, in
violation of 8 15(b) othe Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. § 780(a) (against Ms. Chen, Mr. Ye, and M
Chen’s law offices; (6) failure to register abraker-dealer on an aiding-and-abetting theory, in
violation of § 15(b) othe Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. § 78o(against Mr. Chen); (7) controlling-
person liability under 8§ 20(a) of the Exchange A& U.S.C. § 78t(a), for slations of § 15(a) of
the Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. § 780(a) (against®ien and Mr. Ye); and J&lternative liability
for disgorgement (against Mr. €h in the event that he istrfound liable for the aiding-and-
abetting violations in @ims two, four, and six}

The patrties stipulated to a gaftstay of the case (subjdoctsome discovery) because Ms.
Chen and Mr. Ye are charged criminally with vissud, obstruction of just&; aggravated identity
fraud, and identity theff Mr. Chen then moved to dismige complaint for lack of personal
jurisdiction and for laclkof service of proces¥.All parties consented to the undersigned’s

jurisdiction?®

45 Comp. — ECF No. 1 at 3 ( 10), 29-35 (11 166-204).
46 Stipulation and Order — ECF No. 53; lahent, No. 19-cr-00111-LHK — ECF No. 27.
4" Mot. — ECF No. 61.

8 Consents — ECF Nos. 7 (SEC), 22 (Kuansheng Chen), 23 (all parties), 26 (Jean Chen); 69
(addressing consent).
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STANDARD OF REVIEW
“In opposing a defendant’s motido dismiss for lack of peosal jurisdictionthe plaintiff
bears the burden establishing that jusdiction is proper.”"Ranza v. Nike, Inc793 F.3d 1059,
1068 (9th Cir. 2015) (quotingollegeSource, Inc. v. AcademyOne, 16863 F.3d 1066, 1073 (9th

Cir. 2011)). The parties may submit, and the tmay consider, declarations and other evidence

outside the pleadings in determinwgether it has personal jurisdictidboe v. Unocal Corp.
248 F.3d 915, 922 (9th Cir. 200Ahrogated on other grounds escognized in Williams v.
Yamaha Motor C9851 F.3d 1015, 1024 (9th Cir. 2001).

“Where, as here, the defenutes motion is based on written materials rather than an
evidentiary hearing, the plaintiffeed only make a prima facie show of jurisdictional facts to
withstand the motion to dismissRanza 793 F.3d at 1068 (someténnal quotation marks
omitted) (quotingCollegeSource653 F.3d at 1073). “[U]ncontroved allegations must be taken
as true, and ‘[c]onflicts between pias over statements containedaffidavits must be resolved in
the plaintiff's favor.” Id. (quotingSchwarzenegger v. Fred Martin Motor C874 F.3d 797, 800
(9th Cir. 2004)). But courts “may not assuthe truth of allegations in a pleading which are
contradicted by affidavit[.]Mavrix Photo, Inc. v. Brand Techs., In647 F.3d 1218, 1223 (9th
Cir. 2011) (internal quotadn marks omitted) (quotinData Disc, Inc. v. Sys. Tech. Assocs.,,Inc.
557 F.2d 1280, 1284 (9th Cir. 1977a5;cord Ranza793 F.3d at 1068 (“A plaintiff may not
simply rest on the ‘bare allegations of the ctamyg.”) (internal brackets omitted) (quoting

SchwarzeneggeB74 F.3d at 800}

% The court overrules Mr. Chen’s objections to the SEC’s evidence and consi@érRitigway v.
Phillips, 383 F. Supp. 3d 938, 943 (N.D. Cal. 2019) (in ruling on a personal-jurisdiction challenge
court may “weigh the contents of affidavits and other evidence, or even hold a hearing and resor
oral testimony; . . . a prima facie showing must be based on affirmative proof beyond the pleadin
such as affidavits, testimony or other competent evidence of specific facts”) (internal quotes and
citations omitted).

ORDER-No. 18-cv-06371-LB 9
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ANALYSIS
1. Personal Jurisdiction

Mr. Chen moves to dismiss tkemplaint for &ck of personal jurisdimn, contending that he

lacks sufficient contacts with the United Stat®§he court denies the motion to dismiss becauseé

the SEC has met its prima facie burdeedtablish specific personal jurisdiction.

“The general rule is that personal jurisdiction oaalefendant is proper if permitted by a long
arm statute and if the exercise of thatgdiction does not violatiederal due processPebble
Beach v. Caddy153 F.3d 1151, 1154-55 (9th Cir. 2005) (gmiag the California and federal
long-arm statutes). As to therlg-arm statute prong, the federal securities laws establish the bz
for personal jurisdiction and ddrize nationwide seree of process. 15 U.S.C. 88 77v, 783a¢.
Inv’r Prot. Corp. v. Vigman764 F.2d 1309, 1315 (9th Cir. 1985)E.C. v. Nagaicey42-cv-
00413-JST, 2013 WL 3730578, at *2 (N.D. CalyJle, 2013). The due-process inquiry is

ASIS

whether the defendant has minimum contacts with the forum such that the assertion of jurisdictio

in that forum *“‘does not offend traditional notices of fair play and substantial justivebble
Beach 453 F.3d at 1154-55 (quotitigternational Shoe Co. v. Washingt@26 U.S. 310, 315
(1945)). The gquestion in securitieases thus is “whether the pantys sufficient contacts with the
United States, not arparticular state.Sec. Inv'r Prot. Corp. v. Vigmaf64 F.2d at 1315 (9th
Cir. 1985) (internal citations and quotation omittextjgord In re LDK Solar Sec. Lit07-cv-
05182-WHA, 2008 WL 4369987, at *5 (N.D. Cal. Sept. 24, 2008) (“Congress has provided fq
nationwide service of process for claims under federal secuates. . . and therefore the
guestion becomes whether the party has sufficentacts with the United States, not any
particular state”) (internajuotes and citations omitted).

There are two types of persondiigdgiction: general and specifiBristol-Myers Squibb Co. v.

Super. Ct.137 S. Ct. 1773, 1779-80 (2017). The SEC assaly specific personal jurisdictiGh.

50 Mot. — ECF No. 61 at 9-10, 12—20.
®1 Opp’n — ECF No. 62 at 14.

ORDER-No. 18-cv-06371-LB 10
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The inquiry about whether a forum may asseHdcific personal jurisdion over a nonresident
defendant focuses on the relationship amoegi#gfendant, the forum, and the litigatigvalden
v. Flore 571 U.S. 277, 284 (2014). This due-processimdar specific perenal jurisdiction has
three parts:

(1) The non-resident defendant mustgmsefully direchis activities or
consummate some transaction with the fioxr resident thereof; or perform some
act by which he purposefully avails himfsef the privilege of conducting activities
in the forum, thereby invoking the bédie and protections of its laws;

(2) the claim must be one which arises ofubr relates to the defendant’s forum-
related activities; and

(3) the exercise of jurisdiction must compwith fair play and substantial justice,
i.e. it must be reasonable.

Picot v. Weston780 F.3d 1206, 1211 (9th Cir. 2015) (quotBghwarzeneggeB74 F.3d at 802);
accord In re LDK Solar Sec. Li2008 WL 4369987 at *5 (applying thedle-part test in a federal
securities case). The plaintiibs the burden of sdlysng the first two pongs of the tesPicot,

780 F.3d at 1211 (citations omitted). The burdemtbhifts to the defelant to set forth a
compelling case that the exercisgwisdiction would be unreasonabld. at 1212 (citation
omitted).

A purposeful-availment analysgenerally is for lawsuitsounding in contract, and a
purposeful-direction analysisfier lawsuits sounding in tor6chwarzeneggeB74 F.3d at 802;
accord In re LDK Solar Sec. Li2008 WL 4369987 at *5—&hassin Holdings Corp. v. Formula
VC Ltd, 15-cv-02294-MEJ, 2016 WL 1569986, at *5 (N.D. Cal. April 19, 2016). Courts analyz
minimum contacts in securitieases under both approacHase LDK Solar Sec. Lit2008 WL
4369987 at *5-6. The next secticadddress both standards.

1.1 Purposeful Availment

Purposeful availment typically is action in #oeum that invokes the benefits and protectiong
of the laws in the forunPebble Beachd453 F.3d at 1155. It can betime “form ofaffirmative
conduct allowing or promoting the trsaction of business in the forun®EC v. Jammin Java
Corp., No. 2:15-cv-08291-SVM-MRW, 2016 WL 6595138,*8 (C.D. Cal. July 18, 2016). In

short, the SEC contends that Mr. Chen’s receiees for the EB-5 investments — from the

ORDER-No. 18-cv-06371-LB 11
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U.S.-based regional centers — and the New l8aszChen law offices overlap satisfy this prong
They do. The parties dispute Mr. Chen’s rolietjin of impersonation ointegral participarf),

but it is undisputed that he (a fdynmember or friendyvas integral to the oeipt of funds in the
alleged scheme. Also, his involvement wittee Lined supports the conclusion that he
purposefully promoted businessr@elf someone intentionally dobsisiness here, that gives rise
to personal jurisdiction, even if thergen resides outside the United Staiee Ballad v. Savage
65 F.3d 1495, 1497 (9th Cir. 1995) (Ponzi scheme kstrfan bank aimed &1.S. residents).

Mr. Chen’s main argument to the contrary iattthe SEC’s cases are distinguishable becaug
they involve main actors (not agent)davir. Ye impersonatedim to commit the frauéf These
contentions (if true) may defebability, but the SEC’s burdeis only to “make a prima-facie
showing of jurisdictional facts teithstand the motion to dismisfRanza 793 F.3d at 1068
(internal quotations andtation omitted). It has done that, espdlgi given the divesion of fees to
New Horizons, the business and personal relships, and the New Horizons-Chen law offices
overlap.

1.2 Purposeful Direction

Purposeful direction exists when a defendammhmits an act outside the forum that was
intended to and does in fazduse injury in the forunCalder v. Jones465 U.S. 783, 788-89
(1984). Under the “effects test,” the defendanst{l) commit an intentional act (2) expressly
aimed at the forum (3) that causes harm thatéiendant knows is likely to be suffered in the
forum. Washington Shoe Co. v. A—Z Sporting Goods W% F.3d 668, 673 (9th Cir. 2012)
(quotingMauvrix, 657 F.3d at 1228abrogated on other grounds escognized in Axiom Foods,
Inc. v. Acerchem Int’l, Ing874 F.3d 1064, 1069 (9th Cir. 201The “effects test” focuses on
“the forum in which the defendant&cts were felt, whether or nitte actions themselves occurreq
within the forum.”Mavrix, 647 F.3d at 1228. “However, referring to aldertest as an ‘effects’

test can be misleading. For tihesason, we have warned courts not to focus too narrowly on the

52 0pp’'n — ECF No. 62 at 15-16; Reply — ECF No. 65 at 5-7.
%3 Reply — ECF No. 65 at 5-7.
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test’s third prong — the effectsqrg — holding that ‘something moiie needed in addition to a
mere foreseeable effecPebble Beach453 F.3d at 1156 (citation omitted).

Here, the SEC has met its prima facie showingMraChen directed Biintentional acts to
the United States. Again, the contention is thavas an integral part afetting the fees (through
his accounts and signing the agreems). The power of attorney does not change that conclusic
given the parties’ relationship, the Tree LineghBactions, and the mesiinvolved (run through
Mr. Chen’s accounts). Mr. Chen mbg right on the merits: it may be that someone’s forging hi
signature on key documents (if true) defeats liabifitBut that does not defeat personal
jurisdiction when, as is true here, the SE&3 established its “prima facie showing of
jurisdictional facts to withstand the motion to dismi$8ahza 793 F.3d at 1068.

The SEC also has established the remainiagnehts of the “effects” test: acts expressly
aimed at the forum that cause haimat the defendant knows is likeb be sufferedan the forum.
Washington Shoe G704 F.3d at 673. The alleged schemel@d not have happened without the
alternative means taccept the fees for the investments.

The final inquiry is whether the courexercise of jurisdiction is reasonabiacot, 780 F.3d
at 1211. Courts consider seven factors in dateng whether exercising personal jurisdiction is
reasonable: “(1) the extent oftldefendant's purposeful interj@ctiinto the forum state, (2) the
burden on the defendant in defending in therfgr(B) the extent of the conflict with the
sovereignty of the defendant's stad) the forum state's inter@stadjudicating tke dispute, (5)
the most efficient judicial resolution of thertmversy, (6) the importance of the forum to the
plaintiff's interest in convenient and effective eéliand (7) the existence ah alternative forum.”
Bancroft & Masters, Inc. v. Augusta Nat. In223 F.3d 1082, 1088 (citirBurger King Corp. v.
Rudzewicz471 U.S. 462, 476—77 (1985)Nerruled in part on other grounds by Yahoo! Inc. v. L
Ligue Contre Le Racisme Et L’Antisemitis83 F.3d 1199, 1206—-07 (9th Cir. 2006). It is the
defendant's burden to raise and addtiesse factors in the first instan&ancroft & Masters, Ing.

223 F.3d at 1088. There is a prestimpof reasonableness whemr tlirst two prongs have been

541d. at 5.

ORDER-No. 18-cv-06371-LB 13

N,

U7

a




United States District Court
Northern District of Califorra

© 00 N oo o b~ w NP

N N N N DN DN DN NN R R R R R R R R R R
o ~N o U0~ W N P O © 0 N O U~ W N B O

met, and a defendant thereafterstpresent a “compelling case’attjurisdiction is unreasonable.
See Schwarzenegg@&74 F.3d at 802.

The court’s exercise of jurigttion is reasonable. The case involves the enforcement of U.S.
securities laws. Most acts — including the paytof transaction fees — happened here. Of
course, the burdens of a foreigrfetedant to defend a case are suliggrbut that does not defeat
responsibility for alleged secues-laws violations here. Therene sovereignty conflict: there arg
no unique circumstances that preclude enforcemeddt®fsecurities laws. Otherwise, the factorg

support enforcement of U.Securities laws here.

2. Adequacy of Service

The court previously approvesgrvice by alternative mearee Xilinx, Inc. v. Godo Kaisha
IP Bridge 1 246 F. Supp. 3d 1260, 1263 (N.D. Cal. 201Thére is no hierarchy of procedures,
as [the defendant] suggests, that requites flaintiff] toattempt servicéhrough the Hague
Convention or other means before seglan order under Rule 4(f)(3)9f. also id at 1264
(“service on a foreign cporation’s counsel in the United Statis an effective and reasonable
method, and is not prohibited by the Hague Cotigal). Mr. Chen’s arguments to the contrary

do not change the court’s previoumclusion that service was proper.

3. Deposition
The court does not reach the issue about MenGhdeposition because that inquiry turns on

this order. The parties must congerd raise any dispute separately.

CONCLUSION
The court denies Mr. Chen’s mati to dismiss for lack of persdrjarisdiction. This disposes

of ECF No. 61.
IT IS SO ORDERED. o

Dated: April 24, 2020 A 4

LAUREL BEELER
United States Magistrate Judge

ORDER-No. 18-cv-06371-LB 14




